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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURTSOURTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA
 CASE NO. 07-cv-61693 (JAL)
 --------------------------------------------------------------------SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION, :
 :PLAINTIFF, :
 ::
 v. :::
 JOSEPH J. MONTEROSSO and :LUIS E. VARGAS, :
 :DEFENDANTS. :
 --------------------------------------------------------------------
 DEFENDANT JOSEPH J. MONTEROSSO’S MOTION TO DISMISS
 Pursuant to Rules 12(b)(6) and 9(b) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, and
 Southern District of Florida Local Rule 7.1, Defendant Joseph J. Monterosso (“Mr.
 Monterosso”), by and through his undersigned counsel, hereby moves this Court for an Order
 dismissing each of the causes of action against him in plaintiff Securities and Exchange
 Commission’s (the “Commission’s”) complaint, dated November 20, 2007. As forth in the
 accompanying Memorandum of Law, the ground for this motion is that the Commission’s claims
 for relief against Mr. Monterosso fail to plead fraud with specificity as required by Rule 9(b) of
 the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, and fail to state a claim upon which relief can be granted as
 required by Rule 12(b)(6) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure.
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WHEREFORE, Mr. Monterosso respectfully requests that the complaint herein be
 dismissed, and that he be awarded costs, attorneys’ fees, and such other relief as the Court deems
 just and proper.
 Dated: January 11, 2008 Respectfully Submitted,Miami Beach, Florida
 /s/ Mark David Hunter_______________Mark David Hunter, Esq.Florida Bar No. 12995Leser Hunter Taubman & Taubman, PLLC407 Lincoln Road, Suite 500Miami Beach, Florida 33139(305) 604-5547 (Telephone)(305) 604-5548 (Facsimile)E-Mail: [email protected]
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE
 I hereby certify that, on January 11, 2008, I electronically filed the foregoingdocument with the Clerk of the Court using CM/ECF. I also certify that the foregoing Motion toDismiss is being served this day on all counsel of record listed below via transmission of Noticesof Electronic Filing generated by CM/ECF or in some other authorized manner for those counselwho are not authorized to receive Notices of Electronic Filing electronically.
 Service List
 Brent Mitchell (CM/ECF)
 Cheryl J. Scarboro ([email protected])
 Jeffrey T. Ingelise (CM/ECF)
 Reid A. Muoio ([email protected])
 Walter J. Mathews (CM/ECF)
 D. Patricia Wallace (CM/ECF)
 /s/ Mark David Hunter______________Mark David Hunter, Esq.
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURTSOURTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA
 CASE NO. 07-cv-61693 (JAL)
 --------------------------------------------------------------------SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION, :
 :PLAINTIFF, :
 ::
 v. :::
 JOSEPH J. MONTEROSSO and :LUIS E. VARGAS, :
 :DEFENDANTS. :
 --------------------------------------------------------------------
 MEMORANDUM OF LAW IN SUPPORT OFDEFENDANT JOSEPH J. MONTEROSSO’S MOTION TO DISMISS
 Dated: January 11, 2007 Respectfully Submitted,Miami Beach, Florida
 /s/ Mark David Hunter_____Mark David Hunter, Esq.Florida Bar No. 12995Leser Hunter Taubman & Taubman, PLLC407 Lincoln Road, Suite 500Miami Beach, Florida 33139(305) 604-5547 (Telephone)(305) 604-5548 (Facsimile)E-Mail: [email protected]
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2
 I. INTRODUCTION
 In this matter, Plaintiff Securities and Exchange Commission (the “Commission”) alleges
 that Defendant Joseph J. Monterosso (“Mr. Monterosso”), along with co-Defendant Luis E.
 Vargas (“Mr. Vargas”), engaged in a fraudulent scheme to generate fictitious revenue for a
 company by creating false invoices that reflected business transactions that never occurred, and
 that the fraudulent scheme caused the company to maintain books and records that falsely and
 inaccurately reflected the company’s financial condition, and to issue materially false and
 misleading periodic reports, registration statements, and press releases that materially overstated
 the company’s financial results for numerous quarters. By engaging in the allegedly fraudulent
 scheme, the Commission alleges that Mr. Monterosso violated numerous provisions of the
 federal securities laws, and also aided and abetted the company’s violations of numerous
 provisions of the federal securities laws. For the alleged violations, the Commission seeks a
 permanent injunction, disgorgement and civil penalties, and an “officer and director” bar against
 Mr. Monterosso. However, the complaint is deficient for several significant reasons, and should
 therefore be dismissed for the reasons explained below.
 II. THE ALLEGED SCHEME AND THE COMMISSION’S CLAIMS FOR RELIEF
 According to the Complaint, in about June 2004, Mr. Monterosso and the Chief
 Executive Officer of GlobeTel Communications Corp. (“GlobeTel”) formed a joint venture
 between Carrier Services, Inc. (“CSI”), a private company Mr. Monterosso controlled with Mr.
 Vargas, and GlobeTel. Complaint at ¶ 19. The joint venture dictated that CSI would operate
 GlobeTel’s wholly-owned subsidiary, Centerline Communications, LLC (“Centerline”), and that
 Case 0:07-cv-61693-JAL Document 24-2 Entered on FLSD Docket 01/11/2008 Page 2 of 20
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 CSI would be compensated for reaching certain goals relating to the generation of revenue.
 Complaint at ¶¶ 19-22.
 Beginning in approximately July 2004, Mr. Monterosso began attempting to persuade
 other telecommunications companies to enter into “Partner Incentive and Financing
 Agreements,” wherein those companies would agree to route their wholesale
 telecommunications traffic through Mr. Monterosso’s switch1 in Los Angeles, in order to
 generate profitable revenue for GlobeTel. Complaint at ¶ 25. According to the Complaint, Mr.
 Monterosso’s attempts had only limited success. Complaint at ¶¶ 27-31. Based upon that
 limited success, Mr. Monterosso, Mr. Vargas, and unidentified GlobeTel executives allegedly
 devised an “off-net” revenue program, whose purpose was to generate revenue from
 telecommunications traffic that did pass through Mr. Monterosso’s switch in Los Angeles.
 Complaint at ¶ 32. In order to substantiate the “off-net” revenue so that GlobeTel could record
 it, the Commission alleges that Mr. Monterosso and Mr. Vargas created hundreds of false
 invoices and false “call detail records” (“CDRs”),2 and provided the CRDs to GlobeTel.
 Complaint at ¶¶ 35-38, 40-43, 46-49, 52-54. According to the Complaint, Mr. Monterosso and
 Mr. Vargas “knew or were reckless in not knowing” that GlobeTel would use the false invoices
 and CDRs to record revenue in its books and records. Complaint at ¶¶ 44, 50, 55.
 Also according to the Complaint, and supposedly due to Mr. Monterosso and Mr. Vargas’
 “fraudulent scheme,” GlobeTel overstated its revenue in its periodic filings, registration
 statements, and press releases by approximately $119 million, approximately 80%, during fiscal
 1 Within the wholesale telecommunications industry, a “switch” is a large computer array or cable connection thattelecommunications companies use to connect people who wish to make telephone calls, or other electronictransmissions, with companies whose networks have access to the locations those people wish to call. SeeComplaint at ¶ 16.
 2 According to the Complaint, “CRDs are technical documents that record information, such as the date, length,origin and destination for each telephone call[,]” and are “similar to a large telephone bill that documents all thetelephone calls that are placed through a “switch.”” Complaint at ¶ 34.
 Case 0:07-cv-61693-JAL Document 24-2 Entered on FLSD Docket 01/11/2008 Page 3 of 20
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 years 2004 through 2006. Complaint at ¶¶ 56-83. The Commission also alleges that Mr.
 Monterosso and Mr. Vargas caused Globetel’s books and records to falsely and inaccurately
 reflect the company’s financial condition. Complaint at ¶¶ 85-86. Finally, according to the
 Complaint, GlobeTel’s accountants, consultants, and independent auditors relied upon Mr.
 Monterosso and Mr. Vargas’ alleged false invoices and CDRs to recognize and substantiate
 revenue that was illegitimate. Complaint at ¶¶ 87-92.
 By engaging in the aforementioned conduct, the Commission alleges that Mr.
 Monterosso and Mr. Vargas violated Section 17(a) of the Securities Act of 1933 (“Securities
 Act”), Section 10(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (“Exchange Act”) [15 U.S.C. §
 78j(b)], and Exchange Act Rules 10b-5, 13b2-1 and 13b2-2 [17 C.F.R. §§ 240.10b-5, 240.13b2-1
 and 240.13b2-2]. In addition to those primary violations, the Commission alleges that Mr.
 Monterosso and Mr. Vargas aided and abetted GlobeTel’s violations of Sections 10(b), 13(a),
 and 13(b)(2)(A) of the Exchange Act and Rules 10b-5, 12b-20, 13a-1, and 13a-13 thereunder.3
 III. ARGUMENT
 A. Standard of Review
 Pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure (“Rule 12(b)(6)”), a
 court must dismiss a complaint if the complaint fails to state a cognizable claim upon which
 relief can be granted. See Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6). In ruling on a motion to dismiss pursuant to
 Rule 12(b)(6), the court must accept the well-pleaded factual allegations in the complaint as true,
 but will not accept unsupported conclusions, unwarranted inferences, or sweeping conclusions
 3 Although the Commission alleges that Mr. Monterosso and Mr. Vargas aided and abetted GlobeTel’s violations ofExchange Act Rules 13b2-1 and 13b2-2 in Paragraph No. 6 of its Complaint, the Commission actually charges Mr.Monterosso and Mr. Vargas as primary violators of those Rules in its Sixth Claim for Relief in the Complaint. Mr.Monterosso will respectfully treat the discrepancy as an oversight by the Commission, and approach the matter asalleged in the Commission’s Sixth Claim for Relief wherein Mr. Monterosso is charged as a primary violator.
 Case 0:07-cv-61693-JAL Document 24-2 Entered on FLSD Docket 01/11/2008 Page 4 of 20
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 cast in the form of factual allegation. See Miree v. DeKalb County, Ga., 433 U.S. 25, 27 n.2
 (1977); Oxford Asset Mgmt. Ltd. v. Jaharis, 297 F3d 1182, 1188 (11th Cir. 2002). If a complaint
 does not plead facts that state a claim as a matter of law, it must be dismissed. See Aldana v. Del
 Monte Fresh Produce, N.A., Inc., 416 F.3d 1242, 1253 (11th Cir. 2005) (commending district
 court “for remembering that some minimal pleading standard does still exist . . .” and finding
 that “bald assertions” and “unwarranted deductions of facts” are not accepted as true and will not
 survive a Rule 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss).
 A complaint that alleges fraud must also meet the heightened pleading requirements of
 Rule 9(b) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure (“Rule 9(b)”), which provides that, “[i]n all
 averments of fraud or mistake, the circumstances constituting fraud or mistake shall be stated
 with particularity.” See Fed. R. Civ. P. 9(b). The provisions of Rule 9(b) apply both to the
 scienter-based and to the negligence-based anti-fraud provisions. See MeterLogjc, Inc. v. Copier
 Solutions, Inc., 126 F. Supp. 2d 1346, 1360 n.10 (S.D. Fla. 2000); Rhodes v. Omega Research,
 Inc., 38 F. Supp. 2d 1353, 1359-60 (S.D. Fla. 1999). The heightened pleading requirement of
 Rule 9(b) requires a complaint to set forth: (1) the exact statements or omissions made; (2) the
 time and place of each such statement and the person responsible for making (or not making)
 same; (3) the substance of the statement and how it misled the plaintiff; and (4) the defendants'
 gain due to the alleged fraud. See In re Spear & Jackson Sec. Lit., 2005 WL 3032509, at *3
 (S.D. Fla. Oct. 19, 2005) (citation omitted); See also United States ex rel. Joseph v. Cannon, 642
 F.2d 1373, 1385 n.103 (D.C. Cir. 1981), cert. den’d, 455 U.S. 999 (1982) (need for protection
 against allegations of fraud is most acute where the potential defendants are professionals with
 reputations to protect).
 Case 0:07-cv-61693-JAL Document 24-2 Entered on FLSD Docket 01/11/2008 Page 5 of 20
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 It is well-settled that complaints filed by the Commission are not exempt from the
 heightened pleading requirements of the Rule 9(b), and must plead sufficient detail to alert the
 defendant as to the precise misconduct with which he is charged. See SEC v. Dunlap, 2002 WL
 1007626, at *2 (S.D. Fla. Mar. 27, 2002); SEC v. Gold, 2006 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 87042, at *5
 (E.D.N.Y. August 18, 2006); SEC v. Blackman, 2000 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 22358, at *13 (M. D.
 Tenn., May 26, 2000). Dismissal of the Commission’s complaint is appropriate when the
 Commission fails to meet Rule 9(b)’s requirements. See SEC v. Tambone, 417 F. Supp. 2d 127,
 131 (D. Mass. 2006) (applying Rule 9(b) particularity requirements to SEC fraud complaint and
 granting motions to dismiss complaint); SEC v. Yuen, 221 FRD 631, 634-36 (C.D. Cal. 2004)
 (dismissing Commission’s complaint based on Rules 12(b)(6) and 9b where Commission failed
 to plead elements of fraud with requisite particularity). This heightened standard is particularly
 fitting, since the Commission has mandatory investigative, pre-suit subpoena power. Therefore,
 in order to satisfy the particularity requirement under Rule 9(b), the Commission must “(1)
 specify the statements that the plaintiff contends were fraudulent, (2) identify the speaker, (3)
 state when and where the statements were made, and (4) explain why the statements were
 fraudulent.” SEC v. Apolant, 411 F. Supp. 2d 271, 276 (E.D.N.Y. 2006) (internal citation
 omitted). Stated differently, Rule 9(b) mandates that the Commission’s Complaint must “answer
 the familiar questions of 'who, where, when, why, and how.'" SEC v. Digital Lightwave, 196
 F.R.D. 698, 700 (M.D. Fla. 2000) (internal citation omitted). Conclusory allegations do not
 satisfy Rule 9(b)’s heightened pleading standards. Miller v. Lazard, Ltd., 473 F. Supp. 2d 571,
 588 (S.D.N.Y. 2007). Simply put, “in the context of securities fraud claims,” conclusory
 allegations, such as those that defendants “knew or were reckless in not knowing,” are “so broad
 Case 0:07-cv-61693-JAL Document 24-2 Entered on FLSD Docket 01/11/2008 Page 6 of 20

Page 10
                        

7
 and conclusory to be meaningless.” Shields v. Citytrust Bancorp, Inc., 25 F.3d 1124, 1129 (2d
 Cir. 1994).
 In order to satisfy the heightened pleading requirements of Rule 9(b) in a securities fraud
 case, a plaintiff must satisfy the requirement that fraud be plead with particularity as to each
 individual defendant, and cannot fulfill this obligation by making vague allegations about the
 defendants as a unit. SEC v. U.S. Envt’l, Inc., 82 F. Supp. 2d 237, 241 (S.D.N.Y. 2000)
 (Commission cannot satisfy Rule 9(b) specificity obligation “by making vague allegations about
 the defendants as a unit”). When the Commission lumps defendants together, without
 distinguishing amongst them, it “fails to satisfy one of the principal purposes of Rule 9(b): to
 provide each defendant with “fair notice of the claim to enable preparation of a reasonable
 defense.” SEC v. Parnes, 2001 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 21722, at *13 (S.D.N.Y. Dec. 21, 2001).
 In addition to those allegations involving fraud, the Commission also must satisfy the
 heightened pleading requirements of Rule 9(b) in connection with its numerous allegations of
 aiding and abetting. The Eleventh Circuit has held that “even securities claims without a fraud
 element must be pled with particularity pursuant to Rule 9(b) when that nonfraud securities claim
 is alleged to be part of a defendant’s fraudulent conduct.” Wagner v. First Horizon Pharm. Corp.,
 464 F.3d 1273, 1280 (11th Cir. 2006). See also SEC v. Solow, 2007 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 20751, at
 *10 (S.D. Fla. Mar. 22, 2007) (“Here the aiding and abetting counts are alleged to be part of
 Solow's fraudulent conduct, so they must be plead with particularity as well”); SEC v. Lucent
 Technologies Inc., 363 F. Supp. 2d 708, 727 (D.N.J. 2005) (requiring Commission’s aiding and
 abetting claims to be plead with particularity because entire complaint sounded in fraud, even
 though those claims did not require showing of scienter). As described more fully below, the
 Case 0:07-cv-61693-JAL Document 24-2 Entered on FLSD Docket 01/11/2008 Page 7 of 20
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 Commission has failed to meet the standards articulated by Rules 12(b)(6) and 9(b) and, as a
 result, dismissal of its Complaint in its entirety is appropriate.
 B. The Commission Fails to Plead with Particularity that Mr. MonterossoEngaged in Fraud
 The Complaint alleges that Mr. Monterosso violated Section 17(a) of the Securities Act,
 15 U.S.C. § 77q(a), Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C. § 78j(b), and Rule 10b-5, 17
 C.F.R. §§ 240.10b-5, thereunder (collectively, the “Anti-Fraud Provisions”). A defendant
 violates the Anti-Fraud Provisions “when there is (1) a misrepresentation or omission, (2) that
 was material, (3) which was made in the offer and sale of a security [Section 17(a)(1)] or in
 connection with the purchase or sale of securities [Section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5], (4) scienter,
 and (5) the involvement of interstate commerce, the mails, or a national securities exchange.”
 Solow, 2007 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 20751, at *6; See also SEC v. Gane, 2005 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 607,
 at *28-29 (S.D. Fla. 2005); SEC v. Monarch Funding Corp., 192 F.3d 295, 308 (2d Cir. 1999)
 (noting that essentially the same elements are required under Section 17(a) and Rule 10b-5).
 According to the Commission’s Complaint, Mr. Monterosso and Mr. Vargas violated all
 of the Anti-Fraud Provisions in essentially the same manner: they created or obtained false
 invoices and CDRs that created the false appearance of revenue, and then submitted those false
 invoices and CDRs to GlobeTel, who (1) recorded revenue in its books and records based upon
 the false invoices and CDRs, (2) generated materially false and misleading annual and quarterly
 reports, (3) issued materially false and misleading press releases, and (4) issued common stock
 pursuant to registration statements that contained materially false and misleading information.
 Complaint at ¶¶ 99-100, 104-105. Simply put, in every single paragraph of its Complaint where
 the Commission describes Mr. Monterosso’s conduct that it alleges violates the Anti-Fraud
 Provisions, the Commission has simply lumped Mr. Monterosso together with Mr. Vargas and
 Case 0:07-cv-61693-JAL Document 24-2 Entered on FLSD Docket 01/11/2008 Page 8 of 20
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 stated that “Monterosso and Vargas” or, alternately, “Monterosso or Vargas, at Monterosso’s
 direction” acted in some violative manner. As noted above, by lumping Mr. Monterosso and Mr.
 Vargas together, and making allegations about them as a unit, the Commission has failed to meet
 the principal objectives of Rule 9(b) in that it has unfairly hindered Mr. Monterosso’s ability to
 prepare a reasonable defense against the Commission’s allegations. Such conduct by the
 Commission is violative of the spirit of Rule 9(b) and – just as the Commission is charged with
 ensuring compliance with the federal securities laws – it should not be able to proceed with this
 action without achieving compliance with Rule 9(b).
 C. The Commission Fails to Allege a Material Misrepresentation/Omission orScienter by Mr. Monterosso
 In addition to the Commission’s overwhelming failure to meet the standard articulated by
 Rule 9(b), it has also failed to allege that Mr. Monterosso made a misrepresentation or omission,
 or that Mr. Monterosso possessed the requisite scienter. Both of these deficiencies only further
 doom the Commission’s already deficient allegations of violations of Section 10(b) of the
 Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5 thereunder.
 1. Making a Material Misrepresentation or Omission
 To adequately plead securities fraud under Section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5, thereunder, the
 Commission must allege that Mr. Monterosso made material misrepresentations or omitted
 material facts necessary to clarify misleading statements. Gane, 2005 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 607, at
 *30. In the Eleventh Circuit, “[t]he question of primary liability for a violation of Section 10(b)
 and Rule 10b-5 is governed by a ‘bright line test,’ which means that ‘in order for the defendant
 to be primarily liable under [Section] 10(b) and Rule 10b-5, the alleged misstatement or
 omission upon which a plaintiff relied must have been publicly attributable to the defendant at
 the time that the plaintiff's investment decision was made.’” SEC v. Dauplaise, 2006 U.S. Dist.
 Case 0:07-cv-61693-JAL Document 24-2 Entered on FLSD Docket 01/11/2008 Page 9 of 20
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 LEXIS 9589, at *19 (M.D. Fla. Feb. 22, 2006) (citing Ziemba v. Cascade Int’l, Inc., 256 F.3d
 1192, 1205 (11th Cir. 2001)); see also SEC v. Lucent Tech., 363 F. Supp. 2d at 720 ("a person
 must actually make the material misstatement or omission and the misrepresentation must be
 attributed to the specific actor at the time of public dissemination in order to be a primary
 violator.") "Anything short of such conduct is merely aiding and abetting, and no matter how
 substantial that aid may be, it is not enough to trigger liability under Section 10(b)." Dauplaise,
 2006 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 9589, at *19 (internal citation omitted).
 In its Complaint, the Commission alleges that “Monterosso and Vargas [again, lumping
 Mr. Monterosso together with Mr. Vargas] engaged in fraudulent acts and made material
 misstatements of fact by submitting the fake invoices and corresponding CDRs to Globetel, its
 accountants, and auditors.” Complaint at ¶ 104(b). No where in its Complaint does the
 Commission allege that Mr. Monterosso had any discretion or authority to determine what
 information was to be incorporated into Globetel’s books and/or records, annual and/or quarterly
 reports, press releases, and/or registration statements. Similarly, no where in its Complaint does
 the Commission allege that, after Globetel, its accountants, and auditors reviewed the invoices
 and CDRs before incorporating them into its books and records, annual and quarterly reports,
 press releases, and registration statements, the information contained in the invoices and/or
 CDRs could have reasonably still been attributable to Mr. Monterosso at the time of its public
 dissemination. This is particularly true since: (1) the Commission’s complaint acknowledges
 that GlobeTel executives were involved in the creation of the supposedly-fraudulent “off-net”
 program (see Complaint at ¶ 32) ( . . . in about October 2004, Monterosso, Vargas, and GlobeTel
 executives devised an “off-net” revenue program.); and (2) the Commission notes that Mr.
 Monterosso “sent an e-mail to GlobeTel’s CEO, CFO and chief operating officer (“COO”) to
 Case 0:07-cv-61693-JAL Document 24-2 Entered on FLSD Docket 01/11/2008 Page 10 of 20
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 inform them that he had negotiated with ‘friends . . . outside the original scope of the deal’ to
 create ‘off-net’ revenue[]” (see Complaint at ¶ 33). Since no where in its Complaint does the
 Commission allege that (1) GlobeTel (or its management) was not well aware of the “off-net”
 program or its components, or (2) that GlobeTel (or its management) did not make its own,
 independent decision regarding how to use – or not use – the information contained in the
 invoices and/or CDRs, the Commission has failed to adequately allege that the information
 contained in the invoices and/or CDRs can be attributable to Mr. Monterosso at the time of its
 public dissemination. Accordingly, the Commission’s Complaint fails to allege any actionable
 misrepresentation or omission by Mr. Monterosso, so its claim against Mr. Monterosso for his
 alleged violation of Section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5 thereunder must also fail.
 2. Scienter
 The Supreme Court has defined “scienter” as a "mental state embracing intent to deceive,
 manipulate, or defraud." Aaron v. SEC, 446 U.S. 680, 686 n.5 (1980). In the Eleventh Circuit,
 scienter may be established by a showing of “severe recklessness.” SEC v. Carriba Air, Inc., 681
 F.2d 1318, 1324 (11th Cir. 1982). Severe recklessness is “limited to those highly unreasonable
 omissions or misrepresentations that involve not merely simple or even inexcusable negligence,
 but an extreme departure from the standards of ordinary care, and that present a danger of
 misleading buyers or sellers which is either known to the defendant or is so obvious that the
 defendant must have been aware of it.” Theoharous v. Fong, 256 F.3d 1219, 1225 (11th Cir.
 2001). As noted above, the Commission has not alleged that Mr. Monterosso has committed any
 actionable misrepresentation or omission. Accordingly, in the absence of an actionable
 misrepresentation or omission, the Commission cannot adequately plead scienter relating to
 actionable conduct that did not occur. Moreover, where the Commission does not adequately
 Case 0:07-cv-61693-JAL Document 24-2 Entered on FLSD Docket 01/11/2008 Page 11 of 20
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 distinguish between the roles of certain defendants, a court “cannot evaluate whether the facts
 give rise to a strong inference of their individual fraudulent intent,” and dismissal is appropriate.
 See SEC v. Parnes, 2001 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 21722, *17 (S.D.N.Y. Dec. 21, 2001).
 Possibly realizing these glaring deficiencies in its Complaint, the Commission apparently
 attempts to cure those deficiencies by making the identical conclusory allegation numerous times
 in its Complaint that Mr. Monterosso and Mr. Vargas “knew or were reckless in not knowing”
 that their conduct was violative. Complaint at ¶¶ 38, 44, 50, 55, 61, 84. However, as noted
 above, conclusory allegations, such as those that defendants “knew or were reckless in not
 knowing,” are deficient on their face and bear no probative value. See Shields v. Citytrust
 Bancorp, Inc., 25 F.3d 1124 at 1129. As such, the Commission’s attempt to compensate for Mr.
 Monterosso’s lack of scienter in this matter is without merit.
 D. The Commission Fails to Adequately Plead Mr. Monterosso’s Aiding andAbetting Violations
 In addition to its allegations regarding Mr. Monterosso’s alleged primary violations, the
 Commission also alleges that Mr. Monterosso aided and abetted Globetel’s violations of Sections
 10(b), 13(a), and 13(b)(2)(A) of the Exchange Act, and Rules 10b-5, 12b-20, 13a-1, and 13a-13
 thereunder.4 For the reasons stated above, as well as the reasons stated herein, the Commission
 has failed to adequately plead any aiding and abetting violations of any statute or rule thereunder.
 For its authority to impose aiding and abetting liability on Mr. Monterosso, the
 Commission apparently relies upon Section 20(e) of the Exchange Act, which states that “any
 person that knowingly provides substantial assistance to another person in violation of [the
 Exchange Act, or any rule or regulation thereunder], shall be deemed to be in violation of such
 4 Interestingly enough, the Commission has charged neither GlobeTel nor any of its agents with the violations of thefederal securities laws that Mr. Monterosso and Mr. Vargas allegedly aided and abetted. As such, the allegedsecondary violators are forced to defend themselves in an enforcement proceeding, while the primary violators bearno such burden.
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 provision to the same extent as the person to whom such assistance is provided.” See 15 U.S.C.
 § 78t(e) (emphasis added). In the Eleventh Circuit, “[l]iability for aiding and abetting a
 securities violation occurs ‘if some other party has committed a securities law violation, if the
 accused party has general awareness that his role was part of an overall activity that is improper,
 and if the accused aider-abettor knowingly and substantially assisted the violation.’” Solow,
 2007 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 20751, at *9 (citing Rudolph v. Arthur Andersen & Co., 800 F.2d 1040,
 1045 (11th Cir. 1986). Further, as noted above, since all of Mr. Monterosso’s activities that the
 Commission alleges caused Mr. Monterosso to aid and abet GlobeTel’s violations are alleged to
 be part of Mr. Monterosso and Mr. Vargas’ fraudulent scheme, the Commission was required to
 plead all allegations of aiding and abetting with particularity pursuant to Rule 9(b). See Wagner
 v. First Horizon Pharm. Corp., 464 F.3d at 1280; Solow, 2007 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 20751, at *10;
 SEC v. Lucent Technologies Inc., 363 F. Supp.2d at 727.
 1. Globetel’s Section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5 Violations
 According to the Commission’s Complaint, GlobeTel violated Section 10(b) and Rule
 10b-5 by issuing annual and quarterly reports, as well as numerous press releases, that included
 materially false and misleading statements, and by filing three registration statements that
 included, and/or incorporated by reference, materially false and misleading statements.
 Complaint at ¶ 110. Other than the conclusory allegation that Mr. Monterosso somehow “knew
 that the invoices and CDRs would be used by Globetel[,]” no where in its Complaint does the
 Commission allege that Mr. Monterosso had sufficient knowledge about Globetel’s policies and
 procedures regarding its (1) issuance of periodic reports and/or press releases or (2) filing of
 registration statements to be able to knowingly and/or substantially assist in any violations
 relating thereto. Further, and as noted above, the Commission lumps Mr. Monterosso and Mr.
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 Vargas together in every one of its factual allegations surrounding Mr. Monterosso’s supposedly
 violative conduct. As provided above, the Commission’s failure to adequately allege Mr.
 Monterosso’s “knowing and substantial” assistance, coupled with its failure to plead this alleged
 aiding and abetting with the requisite specificity, renders its allegations without merit and
 appropriate for dismissal.
 2. Globetel’s Section 13(a) and Rules 12b-20, 13a-1, and 13a-13 Violations
 Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act requires each issuer of registered securities to file
 “such information and documents as the Commission shall require to keep reasonably current the
 information and documents required to be included in or filed with an application or registration
 statement.” 15 U.S.C. § 78m(a). Rules 13a-1 and 13a-13 implement Section 13(a) by requiring
 issuers to file annual reports and quarterly reports, while Rule 12b-20 requires issuers, in
 addition to providing the information expressly required in such reports, to add such further
 material information, if any, as may be necessary to make the required statements, in light of the
 circumstances in which they were made, not misleading. See 17 C.F.R. § 240.13a-1; 17 C.F.R. §
 240.13a-13; 17 C.F.R. § 240.12b-20; see also SEC v. Gallagher, 1989 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 9556, at
 *18 (E.D. Pa. Aug. 16, 1989) (“The obligation to file truthful statements is implicit in the
 obligation to file.”) Financial reports are presumed to be misleading if not filed in accordance
 with Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (“GAAP”). Dauplaise, 2006 U.S. Dist. LEXIS
 9589, * 25 (citation omitted).
 In its Complaint, the Commission alleges that GlobeTel violated the above-referenced
 statutes and rules by filing two annual reports and two quarterly reports that “contained
 materially false and misleading statements and disclosures.” Complaint ¶ 113. In support of its
 allegations that Mr. Monterosso and Mr. Vargas aided and abetted GlobeTel’s violations of those
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 statutes and rules, the Commission alleges that Mr. Monterosso and Mr. Vargas “provided
 substantial assistance” to GlobeTel by creating or obtaining fake invoices and CDRs, and by
 submitting them to GlobeTel, its accountants and auditors. Complaint at ¶ 114.
 Aside from the fact that the Commission’s “lumping” of Mr. Monterosso and Mr. Vargas
 together warrants dismissal of this claim for failure to meet Rule 9(b)’s heightened pleading
 requirement (as noted above), no where in its Complaint does the Commission allege that Mr.
 Monterosso had any involvement in filing, responsibilities or authority to file, or knowledge of
 GAAP sufficient for filing GlobeTel’s periodic reports or other documents pursuant to Section
 13(a). Also totally absent from the Commission’s allegations is any notion that Mr. Monterosso
 had the ability to influence the individual or group of individuals who did control GlobeTel’s
 periodic filings, including the very accountants and auditors to whom the Commission alleges
 that Mr. Monterosso and Mr. Vargas provided the invoices and CDRs. In the absence of both, a
 summary dismissal of the Commission’s allegation that Mr. Monterosso aided and abetted
 GlobeTel’s 13(a) and Rules 12b-20, 13a-1, and 13a-13 violations is appropriate.
 3. Globetel’s Section 13(b)(2)(A) Violation
 Section 13(b)(2)(A) of the Exchange Act requires issuers to keep accurate books and
 records, and to maintain an adequate system of internal controls. See 15 U.S.C. § 78m(b)(2)(A).
 According to the Commission’s Complaint, GlobeTel violated Section 13(b)(2)(A) by
 maintaining “false and misleading books and records that failed, in reasonable detail, to
 accurately and fairly reflect transactions and dispositions of its assets.” Complaint at ¶ 117. As
 with Globetel’s other alleged violations, the Commission’s complaint alleges that “Monterosso
 and Vargas” aided and abetted GlobTel’s violation of Section 13(b)(2)(A) by “creating or
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 obtaining fake invoices and CDRs” and submitting them to GlobeTel, its accountants, and
 auditors. Complaint at ¶ 118.
 Aside from the fact that the Commission’s “lumping” of Mr. Monterosso and Mr. Vargas
 together warrants dismissal of this claim for failure to meet Rule 9(b)’s heightened pleading
 requirement (as noted above), no where in its Complaint does the Commission allege that Mr.
 Monterosso had any involvement or responsibilities, whatsoever, relating to either GlobeTel’s
 books and records or the maintenance of its system of internal controls. Also totally absent from
 the Commission’s allegations is any notion that Mr. Monterosso had the ability to influence the
 individual or group of individuals who did control GlobeTel’s books and records or the
 maintenance of its system of internal controls. In the absence of both, a summary dismissal of
 the Commission’s allegation that Mr. Monterosso aided and abetted GlobeTel’s Section
 13(b)(2)(A) violation is appropriate. See SEC v. Cedric Kushner Promotions, Inc., 417 F. Supp.
 2d 326, 337 (S.D.N.Y. 2006) (rejecting Commission’s allegation that the defendant aided and
 abetted an issuer’s violation of Section 13(b)(2)(A) where the defendant was not “responsible for
 [Issuer’s] books and records or for maintaining adequate controls.”).
 E. The Commission Fails to Adequately Plead Mr. Monterosso’s Violations ofExchange Act Rules 13b2-1 and 13b2-2
 Exchange Act Rule 13b2-1 provides that “[n]o person shall directly or indirectly, falsify
 or cause to be falsified, any book, record or account subject to section 13(b)(2)(A) of the
 Exchange Act.” 17 C.F.R. § 240.13b2-1. To adequately plead a violation of Rule 13b2-1, the
 Commission “must establish that [the defendant] directly or indirectly, falsified or caused to be
 falsified, any book, record or account that the company was required to maintain under the
 Securities Exchange Act.” Dauplaise, 2006 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 9589, at *29 (internal citation
 omitted). The Complaint alleges that “Monterosso and Vargas” violated Rule 13b2-1 by creating
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 or obtaining fake invoices and CDRs, and then submitting those invoices and CDRs to GlobeTel,
 it accountants and auditors. Complaint at ¶ 121. Aside from the fact that the Commission’s
 “lumping” of Mr. Monterosso and Mr. Vargas together warrants dismissal of this claim for
 failure to meet Rule 9(b)’s heightened pleading requirement (as noted above), no where in its
 Complaint did the Commission allege that Mr. Monterosso had either the ability to directly
 falsify any of GlobeTel’s books, records, or accounts, or the ability to influence any person who
 did have the ability to falsify any of GlobeTel’s books, records, or accounts. Rather, the
 Commission simply alleged that Mr. Monterosso and Mr. Vargas submitted the invoices to
 individuals with affiliations to GlobeTel and, in doing so, somehow falsified books, records, or
 accounts that they neither had any authority over, nor access to. Accordingly, dismissal of this
 claim for relief is appropriate.
 Similarly, Rule 13b2-2 forbids officers and directors of issuing companies from making
 material misstatements or omissions in communications with accountants in connection with
 audits or reviews of the issuer’s financial records or with the preparation or filing of documents
 required to be filed with the Commission, and also prevents officers and directors from
 manipulating, misleading or fraudulently inducing any independent account who is performing
 an audit or review of the issuer’s financial statements. See 17 C.F.R. § 240.13b2-1. The
 Complaint alleges that “Monterosso and Vargas” violated Rule 13b2-2 by “[taking] action to
 manipulate, mislead, or fraudulently influence independent public or certified public accountants
 engaged in the performance of an audit or review of” GlobeTel’s financial statements.
 Complaint at ¶ 124. Like its prior allegations, the Commission alleges that “Monterosso and
 Vargas” violated this Rule by creating or obtaining fake invoices and CDRs, and then submitting
 those invoices and CDRs to GlobeTel, its accountants and auditors. Complaint at ¶ 125.
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 Aside from the fact that the Commission’s “lumping” of Mr. Monterosso and Mr. Vargas
 together warrants dismissal of this claim for failure to meet Rule 9(b)’s heightened pleading
 requirement (as noted above), no where in its Complaint did the Commission allege that Mr.
 Monterosso had made any effort to manipulate, mislead, or fraudulently induce any independent
 public or certified public accountant until it made the conclusory allegation within its Claim for
 Relief for the alleged Rule 13b2-2 violation. Throughout its Complaint, the Commission
 consistently states that Mr. Monterosso and Mr. Vargas submitted the allegedly false invoices
 and CDRs “to GlobeTel.” Complaint at ¶¶ 38, 43, 49, 54, 55, 91. Later, the Commission alleges
 that Mr. Monterosso and Mr. Vargas provided CDRs to “personnel in GlobeTel’s finance
 department.” Complaint at ¶ 88. The only representation to any “independent auditors” came
 directly from GlobeTel. Complaint at ¶ 92. Only later in its Complaint, in the “First Claim For
 Relief,” did the Commission finally allege that Mr. Monterosso and Mr. Vargas submitted
 invoices and CDRs to “GlobeTel, its accountants and auditors.” Complaint at ¶ 99(b). Even
 then, the Commission made no allegations regarding any purported interaction between Mr.
 Monterosso, Mr. Vargas, and/or any “independent public or certified public accountant.” As
 plead, the Complaint is lacking allegations to substantiate any Rule 13b2-2 violation by Mr.
 Monterosso. Accordingly, dismissal of this claim for relief is appropriate.
 IV. CONCLUSION
 As described above, Mr. Monterosso is charged with violating the federal securities laws,
 and with aiding and abetting GlobeTel’s violations of the federal securities laws, by creating
 false invoices and CDRs and submitting them to GlobeTel, who incorporated information from
 the false invoices and CDRs into its books and records, and used information from the false
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 invoices and CDRs in its periodic reports, press releases, and securities registration statements.
 The Commission, however, has completely failed to satisfy the Federal Rules of Civil
 Procedure’s pleading requirements by failing to adequately plead Mr. Monterosso’s primary or
 secondary violations. Based upon that complete failure, it should not be allowed to proceed in its
 claim against Mr. Monterosso.
 WHEREFORE, Defendant Joseph J. Monterosso respectfully requests that this Court
 dismiss the Commission’s complaint against him in its entirety.
 Case 0:07-cv-61693-JAL Document 24-2 Entered on FLSD Docket 01/11/2008 Page 19 of 20

Page 23
                        

20
 CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE
 I hereby certify that, on January 11, 2008, I electronically filed the foregoingdocument with the Clerk of the Court using CM/ECF. I also certify that the foregoing Motion toDismiss is being served this day on all counsel of record listed below via transmission of Noticesof Electronic Filing generated by CM/ECF or in some other authorized manner for those counselwho are not authorized to receive Notices of Electronic Filing electronically.
 Service List
 Brent Mitchell (CM/ECF)
 Cheryl J. Scarboro ([email protected])
 Jeffrey T. Ingelise (CM/ECF)
 Reid A. Muoio ([email protected])
 Walter J. Mathews (CM/ECF)
 D. Patricia Wallace (CM/ECF)
 /s/ Mark David Hunter______________Mark David Hunter, Esq.
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